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Summary 

In June 2008, Aberdeen City Council (ACC) Archaeology Unit carried out an Archaeological Watching Brief on the excavation of inspection pits and infiltration pits undertaken at Timmer Mart Car Park, East North Street/Justice Street, Aberdeen.

The inspection pits were placed so as to establish the depths of wall foundations.  These were located. One of the infiltration pits revealed 19th century wall foundations.  No other archaeological features were found.

The watching brief on the trial pit exercise is the precursor to a full programme of archaeological work to be undertaken prior to and during the development of the site. A full specification for this work will be written by the Keeper of Archaeology, Aberdeen City Council, and agreed by the developer, and adhered to by the developer before any further sub-surface excavation on the site can go ahead.

1. Introduction and Background 
In June 2008 Stewart Buchanan undertook an Archaeological Watching Brief (on behalf of Aberdeen City Council (ACC) Archaeology Unit) on the site of a proposed housing development at Timmer Mart Car Park, East North Street/Justice Street, Aberdeen (see fig 1.). The work was commissioned in June 2008 by Alistair Bell, Cameron and Ross on behalf of clients Aberdeen City Council. The watching brief was carried out on the excavation of inspection pits intended to establish the depth of wall foundations, and infiltration pits to test the porosity of the subsoil, this information to be used by the engineers to construct an attenuation pond. 

The watching brief was undertaken following guidelines set down by the Keeper of Archaeology ACC (June 2008) which set out a code of practice for the archaeological fieldwork; in this case, to identify and record any and all archaeological features encountered during sub-surface excavations and to take appropriate measures to ensure that no harm comes to archaeological features that may be significant enough to be preserved in situ. The findings of the watching brief will also help to inform the specifications of a full programme of archaeological work to be set out by the Keeper of Archaeology ACC in due course.
Historical and Archaeological Background

Much of the Timmer Mart site is cobbled and is currently used as a car park; it is however situated close to the medieval market on the Castlegate and as such is an area of considerable archaeological potential.

Forming much of the western perimeter of the development area are the walls of St Peter’s Roman Catholic Church and Presbytery (1-5 Chapel Court) NMRS Number (NJ 90 NW 1052), map ref (NJ 9451 0645). The Church and Presbytery are also a Category B listed building (HB Number 19973).

St Peter´s was the first permanent Catholic Church to be erected in Aberdeen after the reformation. The three bay Gothic Church was designed by James Massie and built in 1803. The present building was erected on the site of the 1774 Church. In 1860 the church closed, although No 2 Chapel Court was used as a boys´ school and the Church was retained as its chapel. In 1862, a Colony of Sisters arrived from Hammersmith in 1862 to occupy the Presbytery and the building is indicated on the 1st Edition Map of 1866-8 as a Home for the Aged and Infirm. The church was closed again in 1872 and finally re-opened in 1880. 

Previous archaeological work

In 1981 a new main sewer trench was excavated through the Timmer Mart (see fig 1.) under archaeological supervision (Murray H. 1982). Observations suggested that the whole area had been previously levelled leaving only natural sand and gravel underneath the surface of the car park.

In 2005 ten trial pits were excavated within the car park area (see fig 1.), (Cameron A. 2005). There were structural remains in trial pits 1, 2 and 9; these were thought to be of a 19th century provenance. Conclusions drawn from the archaeological evidence broadly correlated with those of 1982, namely, the area had been subject to extensive levelling.  

2. Objectives and Methodology 

The objectives of the Watching Brief are: 

• To identify the location, nature and extent of any features or objects of archaeological 

importance that would be damaged or destroyed by the proposed groundworks.

• To record archaeological features located in situ to the highest professional standards. 

• To propose arrangements for the safeguarding where possible, of any archaeological features or finds identified. These will need to be agreed with the Keeper of Archaeology, Aberdeen City Council. 

• To make sure that the needs for archaeological conservation and recording are met without 

causing any unnecessary delay or disturbance to the development project. 

To this end: 

• All archaeological features and deposits encountered to be fully excavated by hand and 

recorded by using pro forma recording sheets and a continuous unique numbering system.

•All plans, sections, profiles and elevations to be drawn at 1:10, 1:20 and 1:50 as appropriate. 

•Drawings to be made in pencil on permanent drafting film. The depth of all principal features and levels will be calculated in meters relative to Ordnance Datum. Plans, sections and elevations will be annotated with depths as appropriate. All features and sections will have photographs taken to produce a photographic record consisting of monochrome prints and colour slides (The latter will be deposited with the National Monuments Record of Scotland, Edinburgh). 

• All archaeological work will be undertaken following guidelines recommended by the Institute of Field Archaeologists (IFA, 1999). 

Finds & Samples 

Finds of objects will be subject to the Scots Laws of Treasure Trove and Bona Vacantia and 

reported by the archaeological contractor to the Secretariat of the Treasure Trove Panel (Dr Alan Saville, National Museums of Scotland, Queen Street, Edinburgh EH2 1JD) for disposal to an appropriate museum. 

The post-excavation of finds will be processed by an approved archaeological contractor 

employing a recognized specialist. 

Specialists in relevant subjects will be employed as appropriate to deal with archaeological 

artifacts recovered during work. 

A bulk sample of deposits to be made where there is likelihood of organic or dateable remains, on-site factors to determine size of sample. All bulk samples to be submitted to an approved contractor who will submit relevant material reports on the results. 

Any human remains which are encountered must initially be left in situ. Their removal will be a matter of discussion with the Keeper, Archaeology (who must be notified within 12 hours of their Discovery) and will comply with the provisions of Scots Law. 

Reporting 

A report on the findings of the work will be sent to the Keeper of Archaeology, the City of Aberdeen Planning Services and the client.  A summary of the work undertaken will be submitted to the Archaeology Scotland’s publication Discovery & Excavation in Scotland. 

Archive Deposition 

The project archive, including written, drawn and photographic elements (together with a 

summary of the contents of the archive) will be deposited with the National Monuments Record Scotland (Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland). The archive will be prepared in accordance with the requirements of the RCAHMS. 

Operational Factors 

The archaeological contractor will at all times follow and confirm to the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and other various regulations and the Codes of Conduct and Approved Practice and Standards of the Institute of Field Archaeologists of 1999. All plant will be provided by the client. 

Fieldwork

The watching brief was carried out by Stewart Buchanan between the 3rd and 4th of June 2008.

3. Fieldwork and Results

Inspection Pits

4 small pits were dug at the perimeter of the site to establish wall foundation levels (see fig 1.).

Inspection Pit 1. (IP-1.) O/D 17.31m at ground surface: Dimensions = 1 x 2m in plan and 2m deep. A pit was dug through clean garden soil to sandy subsoil at O/D 16.50m. The base of the foundations of a retaining wall was located at O/D 15.41m. No archaeological features or finds were encountered.
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Plate 1. IP-1. Showing Wall Foundations.

IP-2. O/D 18.00m at ground surface: Dimensions = 1 x 2m in plan and 2m deep. A pit was dug through clean garden soil to sandy subsoil at O/D 17.20m. The base of the foundations of a retaining wall was located at O/D 16.40m. No archaeological features or finds were encountered.

IP-3. O/D 18.80m at ground surface: Dimensions = 1 x 0.80m in plan and 0.70m deep. Cassies were removed and a pit was dug through sand and gravel screening to a mixed, red/brown gravelly–sand (re-deposited natural) deposit at O/D 18.55m. The base of the foundations of a retaining wall was located at O/D 18.16m (see plate 2.). No archaeological features or finds were encountered.
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Plate 2. IP-3. Showing Cassies and Wall Foundations.

IP-4. O/D 17.60m at ground surface: Dimensions = 2.20 x 1.30m in plan and 1.70m deep. IP-4 was placed adjacent to the eastern wall of St Peter’s Church Hall (see plate 3). Cassies were removed and a pit was dug through sand and gravel screening to a concrete step at O/D 17.42. The concrete step appeared to mark the floor level of a breach in the wall; surprisingly, the wall foundations had been removed from below the step so IP-4 had to be extended to the south to expose the foundations of the Church Hall. The foundations terminated at O/D 16.30m and were built into and on top of a dark garden soil of brown, organic, sandy-silt of firm compaction, containing small stones and gravels but no finds.  
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       Plate 3. IP-4. Work in progress.                                Plate 4. IP-4. Foundations of the Church Hall.
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Plate 5. The infiltration pits, view looking west.                        Plate 6. IP-2, showing sewage pipe

 Infiltration Pits

4 trenches were dug in order to facilitate water infiltration testing. 3 were placed in a line running E-W across the middle of the Car Park and 1 a further 20m to the south (see fig 1. and plate 5.).

Infiltration Pit 1. (IT-1.) O/D 18.26m at ground surface: Dimensions = 2.00 x 0.75m in plan and 2.50m deep. Cassies were removed and a trench was dug through sand and gravel screening to natural subsoil at O/D17.95m. The natural subsoil comprised of thick layers sand and assorted gravels which continued to the bottom of the trench at O/D 15.76m. No archaeological features or finds were encountered.

(IT-2.) O/D 18.14m at ground surface: Dimensions = 2.50 x 0.75m in plan and 2.50m deep. Cassies were removed and a trench was dug through sand and gravel screening to re-deposited sand at O/D17.85m. A disused late 19th century sewage pipe was encountered at O/D16.84 (see plate 6.). Natural sands and gravels appeared below the pipe at O/D 16.40, these continued to the bottom of the trench at O/D 15.64m. No other archaeological features or finds were encountered.

(IT-3.) O/D 17.70m at ground surface: Dimensions = 2.40 x 0.75m in plan and 2.50m deep. Cassies were removed and a trench was dug through sand and gravel screening to reveal probable late 19th century brick and rubble foundations at O/D 17.30m (see plate 7.). The foundations were 0.55m thick to a depth of O/D 16.75m, and sat on top of natural sands and gravels which continued to the bottom of the trench at 15.20. No other archaeological features or finds were encountered.
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Plate 7. IT-3. Showing 19th century wall foundations.

(IT-4.) O/D 18.90m at ground surface: Dimensions = 2.40 x 0.75m in plan and 2.50m deep. Cassies were removed and a trench was dug through sand and gravel screening to natural subsoil at O/D18.60m. The natural subsoil comprised of thick layers of sand and assorted gravels which continued to the bottom of the trench at O/D 16.40m. No archaeological features or finds were encountered.
4. Conclusions and Recommendations 

The observations made during the current watching brief would seem to corroborate many of the conclusions drawn from the two previous archaeological watching briefs of this site.

There was no evidence for natural, or primary, topsoil in any of the interventions. A dark brown, organic, firmly compacted garden soil was located in IP-4.  This trench was located near to one of the test pits dug in 2005 (TP-9.), which contained a similar soil described as ‘a compact organic loam’ (Cameron A. 2005). This soil sat on top of natural sand subsoil, there being no evidence for a developed soil matrix; this would suggest that a considerable depth of topsoil and subsoil had been removed prior to the importation of the garden soil.

There were also imported garden soils in the two inspection pits to the N/E of site where there had been no previous archaeological work (IP-1&2).  The soil contained no dating evidence and sat directly on top of natural sand subsoil. This area also appears to have been heavily truncated.

The cassies that formed the surface for the car park sat on top of natural sands and gravels; again much of this area would seem to have been heavily truncated.

The foundations for 19th century tenements were discovered in IT-3. Similar evidence was encountered nearby during the excavations of 2005 in trial pit 9 (TP9).

Much of the central area of the Car Park site appears to have been heavily truncated down to sand natural in the past; this will obviously have had a derogatory effect on any archaeological deposits contained therein. The survival of building foundations and garden soils in trenches near the edges of the site indicates that there is a much greater likelihood of encountering undisturbed archaeological deposits in these areas. 

The watching brief on the trial pit exercise is the precursor to a full programme of archaeological work to be undertaken prior to and during the development of the site. A full specification for this work will be written and adhered to by the Keeper of Archaeology and agreed with the developer before any further sub-surface excavation on the site can go ahead.
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